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MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT 

OF THE UNITED STATES’ MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

 Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), Defendants, the National Indian Gaming 

Commission (“NIGC”), and Tracie L. Stevens, in her official capacity as Chairwoman (“Chair”) 

of the National Indian Gaming Commission, (collectively, “Defendants” or “United States”), 

submit this Memorandum in Support of their Motion to Dismiss.  For the reasons described 

below, the United States respectfully requests that the Court dismiss Plaintiff City of Duluth’s 

Complaint (Docket No. 1) (“Complaint”) for lack of jurisdiction. 

 Plaintiff has not alleged facts sufficient to establish that the agency action they challenge 

caused the injury it complains of; thus, Plaintiff lacks standing, and the Court lacks jurisdiction 

over the Complaint.  In the alternative, the Court lacks jurisdiction over the Complaint because 

the injury asserted by Plaintiff does not fall within the zone of interests of the relevant statute 

pertaining to these claims.  Thus, Plaintiff lacks prudential standing and these claims must be 

dismissed.
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STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

A. The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act 

 The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (“IGRA”) was passed in 1988 “as a means of 

promoting tribal economic development, self-sufficiency, and strong tribal governments.”  25 

U.S.C. § 2702(1).  Prior to 1988, no comprehensive statutory or regulatory scheme governed the 

conduct of Indian gaming.  See id. § 2701(3) (“existing Federal law does not provide clear 

standards or regulations for the conduct of gaming on Indian lands”).  IGRA establishes the 

National Indian Gaming Commission (“NIGC”), a three-member body led by a Chair.  Id. § 

2704(a).  IGRA also provides that the Secretary of the Department of the Interior (“Secretary”) 

shall have certain responsibilities related to Indian gaming, such as approving tribal-state gaming 

compacts.  Id. § 2710(d)(8). 

 1. Classes of Gaming 

 IGRA divides gaming into three classes, each subject to differing levels of state, tribal, 

and federal regulation.  Class III gaming is any form of gaming that is not class I or class II.
1
  Id. 

§ 2703(8).  Class III gaming includes slot machines, casino games (such as baccarat, blackjack, 

roulette, and craps), sports betting, pari-mutuel wagering, and lotteries.  25 C.F.R. § 502.4.  A 

tribe may engage in Class III gaming only if (1) it has a governing ordinance approved by the 

NIGC; (2) the state “permits such gaming for any purpose by any person, organization, or 

entity,” and (3) the tribe and the state enter into a compact approved by the Secretary of the 

Interior.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(d). 

 

                                                           
1
 Class II gaming consists of two basic categories: (1) bingo and variants thereof, and (2) card games that are 

explicitly authorized by state law or are not explicitly prohibited by state law and are played in the state.  Class II 

gaming is subject to tribal regulation, 25 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(2), and to federal oversight by the NIGC.  Id. §§ 2710(b), 

(c).  Class I gaming consists of social games with prizes of minimal value and traditional Indian games that are part 

of tribal ceremonies or celebrations.  Id. § 2703(6).  Indian tribes are given exclusive authority to regulate these 

activities.  Id. § 2710(a)(1). 
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 2. Class III Compacts 

 A tribe desiring to conduct a Class III gaming operation may initiate the compacting 

process by requesting the state to enter into negotiations.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(A).  

Thereafter, the state is to “negotiate with the Indian tribe in good faith to enter into such a 

compact.”  Id.  If a state and tribe reach agreement on a compact, it is submitted to the Secretary.  

If the Secretary neither approves nor disapproves the compact within 45 days, it “shall be 

considered to have been approved by the Secretary, but only to the extent [it] is consistent” with 

IGRA.  Id. § 2710(d)(8)(C).  The Secretary may specifically disapprove a compact only if it 

violates IGRA, other provisions of federal law, or the United States’ trust obligations to Indians.  

Id. § 2710(d)(8)(B).  A gaming compact, if approved or deemed approved by Secretarial 

inaction, takes effect when notice is published in the Federal Register pursuant to Section 

2710(d)(3)(B). 

 3. Powers of the Chair 

  Under IGRA, the Chair of the NIGC has the power to: 

(1) Approve tribal ordinances or resolutions regulating Class II and Class III gaming, 25 

U.S.C. §§ 2705(a)(3), 2710(b)(1)(B), 2710(d)(1)(A)(iii); 

(2) Approve management contracts for Class II and Class III gaming, id. §§ 2705(a)(4), 

2710(d)(9), 2711(a)(1); and 

 (3) Levy and collect civil fines against the tribal operator of an Indian game or 

management contractor,  id. §§ 2705(a)(2), 2713(a); 
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 4. The Sole Proprietary Interest Requirement 

 One of the statutory purposes of IGRA is “to ensure that the Indian tribe is the primary 

beneficiary of the gaming operation.”  25 U.S.C. § 2702(2).  In this vein, IGRA requires that 

Tribes retain the “sole proprietary interest and responsibility for the conduct of any gaming 

activity.” Id. § 2710(b)(2)(A). To this end, the Chair may: 

(1) Approve a tribal ordinance governing Class II or Class III gaming only if “the Indian 

tribe will have the sole proprietary interest and responsibility for the conduct of any 

gaming activity,” id. §§ 2710(b)(2)(A), (d)(1)(A)(ii), 25 C.F.R. §§ 522.4(b)(1), 522.6(c); 

(2) Approve a management contract for Class II or Class III gaming only if, inter alia, 

“all gaming covered by the contract will be conducted in accordance with the Indian 

Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA, or the Act) and governing tribal ordinance(s),” 25 C.F.R. 

§ 531.1(e), see also 25 U.S.C. § 2711(b);
2
   

 (3) Levy and collect civil fines for “any violation” of IGRA, NIGC regulations, or 

approved tribal ordinances, 25 U.S.C. § 2713(a)(1), all of which include the sole 

proprietary interest requirement, see, e.g., 25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(A), 25 C.F.R. § 

522.4(b)(1); and 

(4) Prior to issuing a closure order or levying a civil fine, issue a notice of violation for 

“violations” of IGRA, NIGC regulations, or any approved tribal ordinance, 25 C.F.R. § 

573.3(a), all of which include the sole proprietary interest requirement, see, e.g., 25 

U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(A), 25 C.F.R. § 522.4(b)(1). 

To summarize, the sole proprietary interest and responsibility requirement is part of IGRA and 

NIGC regulations.  It is required to be incorporated into every tribal gaming ordinance prior to 

                                                           
2
 Here, Congress has enacted specific provisions that ensure a tribe will retain the sole proprietary interest.  See 25 

U.S.C. §§ 2711(b), (c). 
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approval.  The Chair may take enforcement action when IGRA, NIGC regulations, or approved 

tribal ordinances are violated.  Therefore, the Chair may seek enforcement against tribes or 

management contractors when the sole proprietary interest and responsibility requirement is 

violated.
3
 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 In 1986, the City of Duluth (“City”) and the Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior 

Chippewa entered into a series of agreements (“1986 Agreements”) to develop a casino in 

downtown Duluth through an entity known as the Duluth-Fond du Lac Economic Development 

Commission (“EDC”).  Compl. ¶ 12.  IGRA was not yet in existence.  Because the 1986 

Agreements would encumber Indian land for at least 25, or for as much as 50, years, Secretarial 

approval was required under 25 U.S.C. §§ 81, 415.  The Secretary approved the 1986 

Agreements.  Compl. ¶ 14. 

 IGRA passed in 1988.  NIGC did not review the 1986 Agreements under IGRA’s 

“Review of Existing Ordinances and Contracts” provision.
4
  See 25 U.S.C. § 2712.  In 1989, the 

Band sued the City in the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota (“Court”), 

alleging that the 1986 Agreements violated IGRA.  Compl. ¶ 15.  The Court referred the parties 

to the NIGC for a report and recommendation.  Compl. ¶ 16.  In 1993, NIGC Chairman Anthony 

Hope sent a letter to the Band Chairman and the Mayor of the City explaining his view that the 

1986 Agreements violated IGRA’s sole proprietary interest requirement and encouraging the 

parties to negotiate a new agreement.  Compl. ¶ 18.  The 1986 Agreements were restructured into 

                                                           
3
 Guidiville Band of Pomo Indians v. NGV Gaming, Ltd., 531 F.3d 767, 782-83 (9th Cir. 2008) purported to hold 

that the sole proprietary interest requirement in § 2710 did not apply to the management contract at issue.  Notably, 

the tribe in that case did not have a tribal gaming ordinance.  Id. at n.19.  The court should decline to follow this 

unpersuasive precedent.  See City of Duluth v. Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa, 830 F.Supp.2d 712, 

718-19, n.4 (D. Minn. 2011) (distinguishing Guidiville and acknowledging that its holding “just doesn’t make 

sense” in light of the purposes of IGRA). 

 
4
 And for good reason: the 1986 Agreements are not a management contract.  See infra at Part B.1. 
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the 1994 Agreements.  Compl. ¶ 20.  In 1994, following up on his previous letter, Chairman 

Hope informed the parties that there would be no enforcement action because the Agreements 

were now consistent with IGRA.  Compl. ¶ 23.  The Chairman also sent a “Report and 

Recommendation” to the Court informing it of NIGC’s position that the 1994 Agreements were 

consistent with IGRA.  Compl. ¶ 26.  The Court entered its Consent Order approving the 

settlement of the parties based upon the 1994 Agreements.  Compl. ¶ 27.  The Court retains 

jurisdiction over the Consent Order.  Compl. ¶ 27. 

 In August 2009, after disagreement concerning the amount of rents paid by the Band, the 

Band ceased all payments to the City.  Compl. ¶¶ 29-31.  The City sued the Band for breach of 

contract and to enforce the Consent Order.  City of Duluth v. Fond du Lac Band of Lake 

Superior Chippewa, 708 F.Supp.2d 890 (D. Minn. 2010); Compl. ¶ 32.  While the litigation was 

still pending, the Band requested that the NIGC reexamine the 1994 Agreements.  Compl. ¶ 34.  

As a courtesy, NIGC Chairwoman Tracie L. Stevens requested the views of the Band and the 

City to aid in NIGC’s review.  Compl. ¶ 35.  Both the City and the Band submitted briefs.  Id.   

 On July 12, 2011, Chairwoman Stevens issued a Notice of Violation (“NOV”) to the 

Band, explaining that the 1994 Agreements violated IGRA’s sole proprietary interest 

requirement.  Ex. 1 (Notice of Violation), at 1; Compl. ¶ 38.  The Band was ordered to “cease 

performance under the 1994 Agreements of those provisions identified in this NOV as violating 

IGRA.”  Ex. 1, at 18; Compl. ¶ 38.  The Band did not appeal the NOV.  The NIGC informed the 

City that it did not have standing to appeal the NOV because the City was not the respondent.  

Compl. ¶ 41.  The Band took various curative actions, including revising the Band’s gaming 

regulations, to avoid further NIGC enforcement action.  Compl. ¶ 42. 
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 On July 22, 2011, the Band filed a motion for relief from the Consent Order under Rule 

60(b), Fed. R. Civ. P.  City of Duluth v. Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa, 830 

F.Supp.2d 712, 714 (D. Minn. 2011).  The Court concluded that the NOV was a change in the 

law sufficient for relief under Rule 60(b)(5).  Id. at 724.  The Court relieved the Band from 

prospective compliance with the 1994 Agreements, but denied the Band’s request for relief from 

retroactive compliance.  Id. at 728.  On appeal, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit 

affirmed the Court’s ruling relieving the Band from prospective compliance, but reversed and 

remanded the Court’s denial of retrospective relief.  City of Duluth v. Fond du Lac Band of Lake 

Superior Chippewa, 702 F.3d 1147, 1156 (8th Cir. 2013). 

STANDARD FOR DISMISSAL 

 Before the Court can consider the merits of Plaintiff’s Complaint, it must first determine 

whether Plaintiff has properly invoked the Court’s jurisdiction.  Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better 

Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 94 (1998) (“Without jurisdiction the court cannot proceed at all in any 

cause.”).  One prerequisite to a court’s exercise of subject matter jurisdiction is that a plaintiff 

have standing.  Nat’l Ass’n of Home Builders v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 417 F.3d 1272, 

1286 (D.C. Cir. 2005).  The plaintiff bears the burden of establishing each element of standing, 

and standing is determined on a claim-by-claim basis.  Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 

555, 561(1992); DaimlerChrysler Corp. v. Cuno, 547 U.S. 332, 352 (2006). 

 On a motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), the plaintiff bears the burden of 

demonstrating subject matter jurisdiction.  See Erby v. United States, 424 F. Supp. 2d 180, 182 

(D.D.C. 2006).  The Court must accept the factual allegations of the Complaint as true, and must 

give Plaintiff the benefit of all inferences to be drawn from those allegations.  See, e.g., Best v. 

United States, 522  F. Supp. 2d 252, 254-55 (D.D.C. 2007).  The Court need not, however, 
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accept Plaintiff’s legal conclusions as true.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009); see also 

Kowal v. MCI Commc’ns Corp., 16 F. 3d 1271, 1276 (D.C. Cir. 1994). 

ARGUMENT 

 The City claims that the NIGC’s NOV “deprives the City of the rights accorded it under 

the 1994 Consent Decree and 1994 Agreements.”  Compl. ¶ 60.  However, the City cannot show 

that the NOV caused this injury.  The Band ceased payments under the 1994 Agreements three 

years prior to the issuance of the NOV.  After the issuance of the NOV, the Band was free to 

choose its curative action, including ceasing gaming entirely.  The City lacks Article III standing 

because the City’s loss of rights under the 1994 Agreements is not fairly traceable to the NOV. 

 In addition, the City lacks prudential standing.  The City is not, and cannot be, regulated 

by the NIGC.  The City, as a simple contractor, is not an intended beneficiary of IGRA.  And the 

City is not a suitable challenger to the NOV because its contractual interest does not align with 

the interests protected by Congress in IGRA.  For these reasons, the Complaint should be 

dismissed. 

A. Plaintiff’s Claims Should Be Dismissed Because Plaintiff Lacks Constitutional 

Standing 

 

 The “irreducible constitutional minimum of standing” requires that: (1) the plaintiff has 

suffered an injury in fact; (2) the injury complained of is fairly traceable to the challenged action 

of the defendant; and (3) it is likely that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.  

Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992) (internal citations omitted).  If any 

one of these essential elements is lacking, there is no “case or controversy” under Article III of 

the Constitution, and the case must be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.  Id. at 

560.  In this case, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to sustain its burden of 
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demonstrating that the injury it relies on to establish standing is “fairly traceable” to the 

challenged agency action.  The Complaint should therefore be dismissed. 

 Where, as here, a plaintiff’s asserted injuries arise not from the government’s regulation 

of the plaintiff itself, but from agency actions that govern third parties, it is “substantially more 

difficult” to establish standing.  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 562.  That is because Article III requires that 

federal courts act “only to redress injury that fairly can be traced to the challenged action of the 

defendant, and not injury that results from the independent action of some third party not before 

the court.” Simon v. E. Ky. Welfare Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976) (emphasis added); 

see also Microwave Acquisition Corp. v. FCC, 145 F.3d 1410, 1412 (D.C. Cir. 1998).  In such 

cases, “the necessary elements of causation and redressability both turn on third-party choices, 

increasing the plaintiffs’ burden to “adduce facts showing that those choices have been or will be 

made in such manner as to produce causation and permit redressability . . . .”  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 

562. 

 In Microwave Acquisition Corporation v. FCC, plaintiff Microwave Acquisition 

Corporation (“MAC”) alleged that MCI Communications Corporation (“MCI”) entered an 

enforceable contract guaranteeing that MCI would sell Qwest Communications, Inc. to MAC.  

145 F.3d at 1412.  Later, MCI agreed to sell Qwest to Southern Pacific Communications 

Company and applied to the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) for approval of the 

transfer.  Id.  An agency of the FCC approved the transfer.  Id.  MAC appealed that approval to 

FCC, but was denied review for lack of standing.  MAC then sued the FCC for the order denying 

review.  Id.  MAC separately sued MCI for breach of contract.  Id.  The court found that “MAC's 

loss of Qwest is . . . attributable not to any action of the [FCC] but to MCI's alleged breach of its 

contract to sell Qwest to MAC.”  Id.  Notably, the breach occurred before the FCC’s approval of 
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the transfer and would have continued regardless of the FCC’s decision.  Id.  Therefore, MAC 

could not show that the sale of Qwest to Southern Pacific was fairly traceable to the FCC.   Id. 

 Here, the City alleges that NIGC’s administrative action “deprives the City of the rights 

accorded it under 1994 Consent Decree and 1994 Agreements.”  Compl. ¶ 60.  However, like in 

MAC, the Band’s alleged breach occurred in 2009, three years before the issuance of the NOV, 

Compl. ¶ 29, and could have continued regardless of NIGC’s decision.  The NOV directed the 

Band to “cease performance under the 1994 Agreements of those provisions identified in this 

NOV as violating IGRA.”  Ex. 1, at 18.  The NOV did not mandate, or even recommend, a cure.
5
   

The Band was free to cease gaming entirely, as was its contractual right under the 1994 

Sublease.
6
  The Band was free to renegotiate with the City.  Thus, the City’s loss of contractual 

rights results from the independent action of the Band, a party not before the court.  See Simon, 

426 U.S. at 42; see also Freedom Republicans, Inc. v. FEC, 13 F.3d 412, 415 (D.C. Cir. 1994) 

(no standing where party's ultimate relief was conditioned on the discretionary behavior of third 

parties not before the court); U.S. Ecology Inc. v. DOI, 231 F.3d 20, 25 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (no 

standing where regardless of federal action party's ultimate relief was conditioned on the 

discretionary behavior of state authorities not before the court).  Recognizing this, the City sued 

the Band in the U.S. District Court for the District of Minnesota to enforce the 1994 Agreements 

                                                           
5
 It is for this reason that Telephone and Data Systems, Inc. v. FCC, 19 F.3d 42, 47 (D.C. Cir. 1994) is inapposite.  

That case held that “injurious private conduct is fairly traceable to the administrative action contested in the suit if 

that action authorized the conduct or established its legality.”  Here, the NIGC did not say to the Band: “You have a 

right to unilaterally terminate the 1994 Agreements and continue gaming.”  Rather, the NIGC told the Band to 

“cease performance under the 1994 Agreements of those provisions identified in this NOV as violating IGRA.”  The 

Band at that point could have lawfully ceased gaming activities under the termination provision.  See infra n.6. 

 
6
 “The Band shall have the unilateral right, at its sole discretion, at any time, to cease gaming activities at the 

Sublease space and shall be liable for all debts and operating costs incurred or assumed by the Band pursuant to this 

Sublease up to the time of terminating such activities, but shall incur no additional liability solely as a result of 

exercising its option to terminate all gaming activities at the Sublease space.”  Ex. 2 (1994 Sublease and Assignment 

of Gaming Rights Agreement), at 19. 
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under the Consent Order, just as MAC sued MCI.
7
  City of Duluth v. Fond du Lac Band of Lake 

Superior Chippewa, 708 F.Supp.2d 890 (D. Minn. 2010). 

 Without the essential element of causation, the case must be dismissed for lack of subject 

matter jurisdiction. 

B. Plaintiff’s Claims Should be Dismissed Because Plaintiff Lacks Prudential Standing 

 In addition to the requirements of Article III standing, there are judicially-devised 

“prudential” limitations on standing.  See Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 162 (1997). Among 

other things, a plaintiff must demonstrate that the interests it asserts are arguably within the 

“zone of interests” intended to be protected by the statute on which its claim is based.  Ass’n of 

Data Processing Serv. Orgs. Inc. v. Camp, 397 U.S. 150, 153 (1970). This requirement derives 

from Section 702 of the APA, which requires that a complainant be “adversely affected or 

aggrieved . . . within the meaning of a relevant statute.” 5 U.S.C. § 702 (emphasis added).  Here 

the relevant statute is IGRA, and more specifically, IGRA’s sole proprietary interest and 

responsibility requirement. 

 While the zone of interests test seeks to enable a broad class of people to challenge 

administrative action, it also ensures that the class of challengers is not overly broad and thereby 

limits “the potential for disruption inherent in allowing every party adversely affected by agency 

action to seek judicial review.”  Clarke v. Sec. Indus. Ass’n, 479 U.S. 388, 399 (1987).  “The 

fundamental, and unexceptionable, idea behind the test is a presumption that Congress intends to 

                                                           
7
 Even if Plaintiff’s Complaint may be viewed as asserting a procedural injury, the City lacks standing.  “There are 

at least two links in an adequate causal chain between a procedural violation and injury-in-fact, one connecting the 

omitted procedure to some substantive government decision that may have been wrongly decided because of the 

lack of the procedure and one connecting the substantive decision to the plaintiffs' particularized injury."  City of 

Waukesha v. EPA, 320 F.3d 228, 234 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (quotations omitted).  This second link requires "a showing 

that the particularized injury that the plaintiff is suffering or is likely to suffer is fairly traceable to the agency action 

that implicated the procedural requirement in question."  Id.  Plaintiff plainly fails to establish, at a minimum, the 

second link.  Specifically, Plaintiff’s alleged injury is not fairly traceable to the NIGC action but due to the business  

choice of the Band.  Thus, Plaintiff falls short on this theory as well. 
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deny standing to those plaintiffs whose suits are more likely to frustrate rather than to further 

statutory objectives.”  Hazardous Waste Treatment Council v. Thomas, 885 F.2d 918, 922 (D.C. 

Cir. 1989) (“HWTC IV”) (citations omitted). 

 Under D.C. Circuit precedent, to establish prudential standing a plaintiff must 

demonstrate (1) that they are regulated by the statute that forms the basis of their claim, (2) that 

they are an intended beneficiary of the statute that forms the basis of their claim, or (3) that there 

is some other indication that they are a “peculiarly suitable challenger” to the administrative 

action at issue.  HWTC IV, 885 F.2d at 922-24; see also Western Wood Preservers Inst. v. 

McHugh, Civ. No. 12-1253, 2013 WL 692789, at *7 (D.D.C. Feb. 27, 2013).  A party need not 

necessarily share Congress’ motives in enacting a statute in order to be a suitable challenger; 

however, the party’s interests must still be at least “congruent with those of the statute.” Amgen, 

Inc. v. Smith, 357 F.3d 103, 109 (D.C. Cir. 2004). 

 In the instant case, Plaintiff is not regulated by the statute, nor an intended beneficiary, 

nor a suitable challenger.   

1. Plaintiff Lacks Prudential Standing as a Regulated Party 

 To begin, Plaintiff is not regulated by IGRA.  The NIGC may enforce the provisions of 

IGRA only against tribes, tribal operators of an Indian game, and management contractors.  25 

U.S.C. § 2710, 2713.  The NIGC enforces the provisions of IGRA against tribes when it 

approves or disapproves a “tribal ordinance or resolution concerning the conduct, or regulation 

of class II [or class III] gaming.”  Id. §§ 2710(b)(2), (d)(1)(A)(iii).  The NIGC enforces the 

provisions of IGRA against tribal operators of an Indian game or against management 

contractors when it approves or disapproves a management contract, id. § 2711(b), or when it 

initiates an enforcement action.  Id. § 2713.   
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 Plaintiff is clearly neither a tribe nor a tribal operator.  Plaintiff is also not a management 

contractor.  “Management contract” is defined by regulation as a “contract, subcontract, or 

collateral agreement between an Indian tribe and a contractor or between a contractor and a 

subcontractor if such contract or agreement provides for the management of all or part of a 

gaming operation.”  25 C.F.R. §502.15.  Here, by contrast, the 1994 Agreements provide that the 

Band will operate the casino.  Because IGRA limits the Chair’s authority to approval of tribal 

gaming ordinances and management contracts, the NIGC did not and does not have the authority 

to approve or disapprove the 1994 Agreements.
8
  The NIGC issued a Notice of Violation to the 

Band because the Chair found that the Band was violating the sole proprietary interest and 

responsibility requirement by operating under the 1994 Agreements.  The NIGC could not have 

issued the NOV to the City or jointly to the Band and to the City because NIGC has no authority 

to direct an enforcement action against the City.  NIGC declined to permit the City to appeal the 

NOV because the City was not the respondent and because NIGC does not have any authority 

over the City.
9
  To the extent Chairman Hope previously spoke to the lawfulness of the 1994 

Agreements, his letter to the City and Band and his report and recommendation to the Court 

were, at best, advisory opinions.
10

  They could not have constituted formal agency action 

                                                           
8
 The 1994 Agreements bear this out.  The Tribal-City Accord noted that “[t]his Agreement is subject to the 

approval of the United States Department of Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs, which approval is to be endorsed 

herein.”  Ex. 3 (Tribal-City Accord), at 18.  The Sublease is “effective upon the written signature [of various 

parties], approval by the Secretary of the Interior or his designee, and the issuance of a separate letter from the 

Chairman of the National Indian Gaming Commission indicating that the Sublease and the Related Documents are 

in compliance with the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.”  Ex. 2, at 20.  In stark contrast to the requirement that the 

Secretary approve the Agreements, nowhere do the Agreements state that approval of the NIGC is required. 

 
9
 Had the tribe appealed, the City may have been allowed to intervene.  25 C.F.R. § 585.5(a).  See also Tamiami 

Partners, Ltd. v. Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida, 63 F.3d 1030, 1035 (11th Cir. 1995) (“the regulations 

provide no means by which a party, other than the tribe, may appeal the Chairman’s [action]—a party may only 

participate once the tribe has made an appeal”). 

 
10

 An advisory opinion of the NIGC is not a final decision of the agency.  See NGV Gaming, Ltd. v. Upstream Point 

Molate, LLC, 355 F.Supp.2d 1061, 1065 (N.D. Cal. 2005). 
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because IGRA limits the Chair’s authority to approval of tribal gaming ordinances and 

management contracts.
11

 

2. Plaintiff Lacks Prudential Standing as an Intended Beneficiary 

 For many of the same reasons that the City of Duluth is not regulated by IGRA, it is also 

not an intended beneficiary of IGRA.  Nowhere does the Act contemplate the sort of agreement 

entered into by the City and the Band.  Nowhere does the Act concern itself with a party like the 

City: a contractor who is not a management contractor.  As discussed above, IGRA primarily 

concerns itself with tribes, tribal operators, and management contractors.   

IGRA also concerns itself with states in providing that the Secretary has the authority to 

approve tribal-state compacts, 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8)(A), and that tribal-state compacts must be 

in place if Class III gaming is to be conducted.  Id. § 2710(d)(1)(C).  In fact, IGRA specifically 

provides jurisdiction in federal court for actions brought by either a tribe or a state alleging the 

violation of a gaming compact.  Id. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii).  The Tenth Circuit has also held that a 

state has prudential standing to sue over “the largely dispositive question for Indian gaming 

purposes of whether a tract of land inside the State’s borders constitutes ‘Indian lands’ within the 

meaning of IGRA.”  Kansas v. United States, 249 F.3d 1213, 1223 (10th Cir. 2001).  Quite 

simply, the City is not a state.  And it is not suing to enforce its sovereign interests, as in Kansas, 

but to enforce its contractual interest.  The only injury Plaintiff alleges is that NIGC’s 

administrative action “deprives the City of the rights accorded it under the 1994 Consent Decree 

and 1994 Agreements.”  Compl. ¶ 60.  

 Additionally, IGRA contemplates that, under some circumstances, the interests of the 

surrounding community should be taken into account.  Id. § 2719(b)(1)(A).  Thus, it has been 

                                                           
11

 See Cheyenne-Arapaho Gaming Comm’n v. NIGC, 214 F. Supp. 2d 1155, 1170-71 (N.D. Okla. 2002) (“the final 

agency actions enumerated by the IGRA are decisions on tribal gaming ordinances, management contracts, and 

reviews of existing ordinances, contract, and civil penalties.”). 
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held that citizens or citizen groups who allege anticipated harm from a proposed casino have 

standing to sue the Secretary concerning  his/her approvals or determinations under IGRA.  See, 

e.g., Amador County v. Salazar, 640 F.3d 373, 379 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (County, whose citizens 

arguably would suffer from living near a gambling operation, had prudential standing to 

challenge the Secretary’s approval of a tribal-state compact); Citizens Exposing Truth About 

Casinos v. Kempthorne, 492 F.3d 460, 464 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (citizen group had prudential 

standing to challenge Secretary’s interpretation of IGRA’s “initial reservation” exception where 

claim sought “to enforce the provision that Congress included regarding affected 

communities.”).  While the City might have standing to sue the Secretary, as parens patriae, to 

prevent Indian gaming, the City is not acting in that capacity here.  Rather, the City is suing the 

NIGC, as a contractor, to participate in Indian gaming.  Again, the only injury Plaintiff alleges is 

that NIGC’s administrative action “deprives the City of the rights accorded it under the 1994 

Consent Decree and 1994 Agreements.”  Compl. ¶ 60. 

 It has also been held that gaming competitors have prudential standing to sue under 

IGRA.  See Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians v. United States, 288 F.3d 910, 914 (8th 

Cir. 2002) (affirming district court’s finding that Indian tribe with casino 40 miles away from 

proposed casino had prudential standing to sue, in part, because “Supreme Court caselaw 

provides considerable support for the conclusion that the ‘zone of interests’ concept is 

sufficiently broad to embrace the interests of an actual or potential competitor.”); Artichoke Joe’s 

v. Norton, 216 F. Supp. 2d 1084, 1117 (E.D. Cal. 2002) (“by requiring that some gaming be 

permitted by the state as a precondition for a class III tribal gaming compact, § 2710(d)(1)(B), as 

interpreted by plaintiffs [a non-Indian casino], arguably manifests a desire to foster some degree 
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of competition, and plaintiffs are among the tribes’ competitors.”).  Yet the City is not a 

competitor; it is a partner. 

 In sum, the City is not an intended beneficiary of IGRA.  The City can point to no 

provision of IGRA that was intended to protect a simple contractor.
12

  If permitted, Plaintiff's suit 

is “more likely to frustrate than to further statutory objectives.”  See Clarke, 479 U.S. at 397 

n.12.   

3. Plaintiff Lacks Prudential Standing as a Suitable Challenger 

 The City is not a suitable challenger to the NIGC’s interpretation of the sole proprietary 

interest requirement.  To determine if a party is a suitable challenger one asks: (1) What are the 

interests sought to be protected by Congress?; (2) What is plaintiff’s interest? (3) Do those 

interests align “systematically, not fortuitously”?  Hazardous Waste Treatment Council v. 

Thomas, 885 F.2d 918, 924 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (“HWTC IV”); see also Nat’l Credit Union Admin. 

v. First Nat’l Bank & Trust Co., 522 U.S. 479 (1998). 

 In regards to the first inquiry, the interest to be protected “is [] determined not by 

reference to the overall purpose of the Act in question . . . but by reference to the particular 

provision of law upon which the plaintiff relies.”  Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 175-76 (1997); 

see also Rosebud Sioux Tribe v. McDivitt, 286 F.3d 1031, 1036 (8th Cir. 2002).
13

  The overall 

                                                           
12

 If nothing more were required for prudential standing than an interest in statutory enforcement, any litigant with 

Article III standing would also be within the zone of interests for prudential standing.  This result could not be 

squared with the Supreme Court's insistence in National Credit Union Administration v. First National Bank & Trust 

Co., 522 U.S. 479 (1988), that the zone of interest test retains independent force.  See also Liquid Carbonic Indus. 

Corp. v. FERC, 29 F.3d 697, 704 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (“The intended beneficiaries of a statute cannot include any party 

interested in or affected by an agency's decision unless the zone of interest test is meaningless.”). 

 
13

 It is for this reason that Match-E-Be-Nash-She-Wish Band of Pottawatomi Indians v. Patchak, 132 S.Ct. 2199 

(2012) is inapposite.  That suit was aimed at 25 U.S.C. § 465, the land-into-trust provision of the Indian 

Reorganization Act.  This suit is aimed at the sole proprietary interest requirement of IGRA.  In Patchak, the 

plaintiff alleged injuries from a proposed casino as a nearby property owner.  Id. at 2210.  The question was whether 

issues of land use fell within the scope of Section 465.  Department of Interior regulations provide that the Secretary 

must consider “potential conflicts of land use which may arise.” Id. at 2211 (quoting 25 C.F.R. §§ 151.10(f).  Thus, 

the plaintiff’s interest as a landowner was contemplated by the statute.  IGRA has a provision similar to that in 
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purpose of IGRA is to “promot[e] tribal economic development, self-sufficiency, and strong 

tribal governments.”  25 U.S.C. § 2702(1).  But the provision at issue here is the sole proprietary 

interest and responsibility requirement.  Id. § 2710(b)(2)(A).  The purpose that corresponds with 

this provision is “to ensure that the Indian tribe is the primary beneficiary of the gaming 

operation.”  Id. § 2702(2).  This purpose is clear on the face of the statute.  If there is any doubt, 

the Committee Report on S. 555 confirms that the “tribe must be the sole owner of the gaming 

enterprise.”  S. Rep. 446, 100th Cong., 2d. Sess. at 8 (1988). 

 As to the second inquiry, the only injury Plaintiff alleges is that NIGC’s administrative 

action “deprives the City of the rights accorded it under the 1994 Consent Decree and 1994 

Agreements.”  Compl. ¶ 60.  Plaintiff’s injury can thus be characterized as a contractual or 

economic injury. 

 Do these interests align?  One could argue that the City’s interest aligns with IGRA’s 

overall purpose to the extent that the more successful the Band’s casino, the more money for the 

City.  However, that alignment is merely fortuitous.  The City’s interest is in obtaining the 

largest possible share of profits, to the detriment of the Band.  Reference to the specific provision 

at issue makes this clear.  The City has absolutely no interest in the Band being the “primary 

beneficiary” of the gaming operation or in the Band being the “sole proprietor.”  Rather, the City 

is interested in being a joint beneficiary and joint proprietor of the casino.
14

  Such an interest not 

only fails to align with the sole proprietary interest requirement, it contradicts the requirement.  

See Liquid Carbonic Indus. Corp. v. FERC, 29 F.3d 697, 705 (D.C. Cir. 1994).  Any attempt to 

characterize the City’s interest otherwise would be “no more than an economic injury in 

                                                                                                                                                                                           

Patchak requiring that the Secretary determine whether a proposed casino will be “detrimental to the surrounding 

community.” 25 U.S.C. § 2719(b)(1)(A).  It is unremarkable that community members have prudential standing 

under IGRA.  See supra discussion of community standing under IGRA at Part B.2.  Here, the City can point to no 

provision intended to protect its interests, nor any provision with which its interests systematically align. 

   
14

 For examples of other impermissible joint ownership arrangements, see 58 Fed. Reg. 5,802, 5,804 (Jan. 22, 1993). 
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disguise.”  Western Wood Preservers Inst. v. McHugh, 2013 WL 692789, at *8 (D.D.C. Feb. 27, 

2013). 

 To illustrate this point, the United States suggests a hypothetical.  Take the example of a 

napkin distributor that supplies a tribal casino.  Like the City, the napkin distributor has an 

economic interest in the continuance of the distribution contract.  If the NIGC issued a notice of 

violation to a tribal casino and the tribe chose to cease gaming, or the NIGC eventually issued an 

order of closure of the casino, the napkin distributor would be deprived of its rights under the 

contract.  Yet it seems clear that the napkin distributor, who is not a tribe, tribal operator, 

management contractor, State, or competitor, would not have standing.  The contractor would 

not be allowed to challenge the NIGC’s determination that a tribe did not retain the sole 

proprietary interest if the contractor suffered merely an economic injury.  It is unsurprising that 

courts have not recognized third party standing in these circumstances: Plaintiff’s argument, if 

adopted, could lead to an eruption of litigation challenging NIGC NOV decisions, thus negating 

the purposes of the prudential standing requirement and contradicting Congress’ intent.  As the 

D.C. Circuit has recognized, “a rule that gave [a plaintiff] standing merely because it happened 

to be disadvantaged by a particular agency decision would destroy the requirement of prudential 

standing; any party with constitutional standing could sue.”  Hazardous Waste Treatment 

Council  v. EPA, 861 F.2d 277, 283 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (“HWTC II”).  

 To the extent the court is inclined to grant standing in this case, the United States notes 

that the City has sued the Secretary of the Interior in this Court over the cancellation of the 

business lease that forms part of the 1986 Agreements.  The City has also sued the Band in the 

U.S. District Court for the District of Minnesota for breach of contract and to enforce the 1994 

Consent Order.   See City of Duluth v. Fond Du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa, 830 F. 
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Supp. 2d 712. 715-16 (D. Minn. 2011).  That litigation is ongoing.  See City of Duluth v. Fond 

Du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa, 702 F.3d 1147 (8th Cir. 2013).
15

  Even if the City 

does not have standing in this action, the City has had and will have an opportunity for its day in 

court. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants respectfully request the Court to dismiss Plaintiff’s 

Complaint in its entirety due to Plaintiff’s failure to establish its Article III standing.  

Alternatively, Defendants respectfully request the Court to dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint in its 

entirety due to Plaintiff’s failure to establish prudential standing under the Indian Gaming 

Regulatory Act. 

                                                           
15

 Incidentally, the City also sued the Band in St. Louis County District Court alleging a breach of the 1986 

Commission Agreement unrelated to the alleged breach underlying this action.  See generally City of Duluth v. Fond 

Du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa, No. A12-1324, 2013 WL 1500884 (Minn. Ct. App. Apr. 15, 2013). 
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